TGEGKXGF .; B: 4235"39<7: -5: ."Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Ergtm"Uwr tgo g'Eqwtv

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**

---

**CASE NO. SC12-1314**

---

**JOSEPH ELI BEARDEN,**

Petitioner,

vs.

**STATE OF FLORIDA,**

Respondent.

---

**ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE  
SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL**

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER JOSEPH ELI BEARDEN**

Michael P. Matthews  
Florida Bar No. 63988  
[mmatthews@foley.com](mailto:mmatthews@foley.com)

Lawrence J. Dougherty  
Florida Bar No. 68637  
[ldougherty@foley.com](mailto:ldougherty@foley.com)

**FOLEY & LARDNER LLP**

100 North Tampa Street  
Suite 2700

Tampa, Florida 33602

Telephone: (813) 229-2300

Facsimile: (813) 221-4210

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Petitioner Joseph Eli Bearden is currently serving a life sentence for allegedly being present at a murder to which another man instead confessed to being present. The jury in Bearden's trial never heard this confession because the trial court did not believe the witness to the confession to be credible and disregarded corroboration in the record, giving rise to the primary issue on this appeal.

In this brief, the petitioner Joseph Eli Bearden is referred to as "Bearden." The respondent State of Florida is referred to as "the State." The April 13, 2011 opinion under review, reported as Bearden v. State, 62 So. 3d 656 (Fla. 2d DCA 2011), is referred to as "the Second District opinion."

The twenty-volume trial record on appeal is cited as R:\_\_:\_\_, according to volume number (as determined by the Second District, not the court reporter) and page number (as determined by the court reporter). The Second District's record on appeal is cited as R:2DCA:\_\_, according to page number.

Bearden's initial brief in the district court is cited as IB:\_\_, according to page number. The State's answer brief is cited as AB:\_\_, according to page number. Bearden's reply brief is cited as RB:\_\_, according to page number. The statement of facts is not intended to be a stipulation of any facts disputed below or of facts the State was required to prove at trial.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Bearden was indicted for first-degree murder and robbery with a deadly weapon on March 29, 2007 for involvement in the killing of Ryan Skipper (“Skipper”) by William “Bill Bill” Brown, which took place during the night of March 13-14, 2007. R:1:89-92. The State filed a notice of its intent to seek the death penalty on March 30, 2007. R:1:96.

Bill Bill Brown, an acquaintance of Skipper, was separately tried for and convicted of first-degree murder for actually stabbing Skipper to death in Skipper’s car. Bearden v. State, 62 So. 3d 656, 657 & n.2 (Fla. 2d DCA 2011). Bill Bill is currently serving a life sentence in state prison. The principal issue in Bearden’s trial was whether he was present at the murder and assisted Bill Bill in killing Skipper. Bearden’s defense at trial was that Bill Bill’s cousin Ray Allen Brown (“Ray Allen”) was the one present in the car rather than Bearden, as Bearden told police when he was questioned shortly after the murder.

Jury selection in Bearden’s trial commenced on February 11, 2009. The trial judge, the Honorable J. Michael Hunter, did not permit Bearden to cross-examine Ray Allen about Ray Allen’s presence at the murder and did not permit Bearden to call a witness, Angela Tyler, to whom Ray Allen confessed that he, Ray Allen, was the one present at the murder. As argued below, these rulings were not merely harmful to Bearden’s defense; they eliminated his defense. The Second District

would later agree in its majority opinion that “Ray Allen’s purported admission would exonerate Bearden of any direct involvement in Skipper’s death.” 62 So. 3d at 659.

The jury found Bearden guilty of second-degree murder and theft of a motor vehicle on February 27, 2009. R:4:564-65. Judge Hunter sentenced Bearden to life in prison. R:4:571-78. Bearden spoke at his sentencing, stating that the one who was actually present at the murder instead of Bearden, Ray Allen, had been in court on the stand, but was allowed to walk away. Bearden said that Ray Allen “is walking the street. And he testified. If—if they wanted justice, it’s the man, he’s out there on the street.” R:20:2625.<sup>1</sup>

Bearden filed his notice of appeal of the trial convictions and sentence on March 10, 2009. R4:580-82. A panel of the Second District Court of Appeals affirmed Bearden’s conviction with written opinion on April 13, 2011. Bearden v. State, 62 So. 3d 656, 664 (Fla. 2d DCA 2011).<sup>2</sup> Judge Altenbernd joined the panel’s opinion and filed a separate concurrence noting that the evidence supporting Bearden’s conviction was “weak,” that “[t]here is no physical evidence” placing Bearden in the car at the time of the murder, and that Bearden’s

---

<sup>1</sup> References to statements are taken from the trial record unless otherwise noted.

<sup>2</sup> The Second District opinion did find error in the trial court’s conclusion that Ray Allen’s declaration was not against his penal interest. 62 So. 3d at 662-63. Bearden agrees with this conclusion of the Second District opinion.

admissions put into evidence by the State—“hardly a full confession to any form of murder”—had “only a little more” corroboration than the Ray Allen confession that Bearden was blocked from presenting in his defense. 62 So. 3d at 665-66.

Bearden’s counsel filed a motion for rehearing en banc, contending that the jury instruction for the lesser-included charge of manslaughter had introduced fundamental error into the trial under the holding of Montgomery v. State, 39 So. 3d 252, 259-60 (Fla. 2010). R:2DCA:120-122. After a response from the State and notices of supplemental authority from both parties, the Second District denied the motion for rehearing without comment on June 7, 2011. R:2DCA:104.

Bearden, acting pro se, filed a Petition Seeking Belated Discretionary Review or Belated Appeal in this Court on February 17, 2012, claiming ineffective assistance of direct appellate counsel.<sup>3</sup> R:2DCA:62-102. Bearden claimed in his pro se petition that the Second District’s opinion expressly and directly conflicted with the opinion of another court, though he did not identify the opinion. R:2DCA:63. This Court assigned the case number SC12-320. On April 11, 2012,

---

<sup>3</sup> In a footnote to his motion, Bearden stated that he had a “habeas corpus writ for ineffective appeal counsel on file in the 2 DCA appeals court.” R:2DCA:102 n. Bearden also apparently filed, on February 16, 2012, a petition in the Second District alleging ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, Case No. 2D12-831. That petition was stayed on July 18, 2013 pending the resolution of this appeal. This Court acknowledged receipt of a writ of habeas corpus from Bearden in a new case, SC12-1934, on September 12, 2012, and ordered it transferred to the Second District on October 15, 2012, case 2D09-1325. That case is marked “closed.”

this Court ordered Bearden's former appellate lawyer and the State to file sworn responses. R:2DCA:61. The Court also invited the Second District to respond to the petition, but it declined. R:2DCA:59-60.

On July 31, 2012, this Court granted Bearden's original petition seeking belated discretionary review, in a new case numbered SC12-1314, to review the opinion of the Second District. The first entry of the Court's docket for this case, dated July 31, 2012, states "Notice—Discretionary Jurisdiction (Direct Conflict)."

In an amended pro se jurisdictional brief filed in this Court on September 21, 2012, Bearden said the Second District's opinion conflicted with the opinion of the First District in DeWolfe v. State, 62 So. 3d 1142 (1st DCA 2011), which was issued the month after the Second District's opinion in this case. See Amended Original Pro Se Jurisdictional Brief. The State filed its jurisdictional answer brief, contending that no conflict existed, in this Court on October 15, 2012.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Ryan Skipper was found stabbed to death near the intersection of Morgan Road and Logan Lane in Wahneta, Polk County, early on the morning of March 14, 2007. R:11:1026,1043; R:11:1085. The night before, Skipper had dinner with a friend in Lakeland. R:11:1190-91. Skipper stopped home, and he talked on the telephone with his dining companion from earlier that night at 11:10 p.m. R:10:993; R:11:1195. Skipper left home driving his new car, a month-old 2007

Chevy Aveo. R:11:1150-53. Skipper encountered Bearden along the side of the road and picked him up. R:15:1770. The men returned to Skipper's house and smoked marijuana. R:15:1773.

Bearden suggested they drive to a house at 110 1st Wahneta Street West that belonged to James Thomas "J.T." Brown Sr., a methamphetamine dealer. R:14:1627-29,1631-32,1660; R:15:1776; R:16:1931-32,1938; R:17:2069-70;2079. J.T. Brown shared his house with his adult son Ray Allen Brown. Also living rent-free in the house and an adjacent shed was a friend of the Browns named John Kirchoff, along with Mr. Kirchoff's brother and sister-in-law. R:14:1626-30,1691; R:16:1932,1953,1959; R:17:2066. J.T. Brown and Kirchoff would become the principal witnesses for the State against Bearden at trial.

Also at the house that night was a frequent visitor, William David "Bill Bill" Brown, Jr., J.T. Brown's nephew and Ray Allen Brown's cousin. R:14:1630,1658; R:16:1937; R:17:2068,2077. Bill Bill often used drugs at the house with the other Browns. R:14:1658; R:17:2066-69. Bill Bill had previously told Kirchoff that Bill Bill's father had sexually molested Bill Bill at gunpoint and knife point. R:14:1679-80. In fact, later on, when Bill Bill admitted to Kirchoff that Bill Bill had killed Skipper, Kirchoff first thought that Bill Bill was talking about killing his own father instead. R:14:1679,1695.

The occupants of J.T. Brown's house used, bought, and sold methamphetamine. R:14:1627,1652,1655; R16:1935; R17:2069,2075. By the night of the murder, Kirchoff had been awake using the drug for "a couple days." R:14:1653. Kirchoff assumed everyone else in the house had been using drugs that night too. R14:1653-54. J.T. Brown, however, said no one was using. R:16:1961,1965. Ray Allen also denied using drugs that night. R:17:2075.

Skipper drove Bearden to the Brown house. R:15:1775,1780-81. Kirchoff thought Bearden arrived at the Brown house around 8:30 or 9 p.m., but he could not be sure. R:14:1658-59. J.T. Brown thought it was dusk. R:16:1966. Ray Allen thought Bearden arrived around 9 p.m. R:17:2079. A record of Skipper's phone call with his dinner companion suggests that Skipper had not yet arrived at the Browns' residence as of the time of that call at 11:10 p.m. R:11:1195.

While Skipper waited outside in his car, Bearden went inside J.T. Brown's house with a damaged laptop that Skipper had given him. Bearden tried to sell or trade the laptop for drugs. R:14:1631-32,1660-61; R:16:1938; R17:2079.

Kirchoff testified that Bearden, Bill Bill, and Kirchoff had a discussion inside the house about robbing Skipper. R:14:1636-38. Bearden said Bill Bill and Ray Allen "was talking about let's rob the dude." R:15:1782.<sup>4</sup> J.T. Brown denied

---

<sup>4</sup> Bearden did not testify at trial, but he gave police a sworn pre-arrest taped statement two days after the murder, which the State played in its case-in-chief.

there was any discussion of robbing anyone. R:16:1941. Skipper was then invited from his car into the house. R:14:1633-34,1663; R:16:1940; R:17:2079,2088. Bill Bill had met Skipper before. R:14:1662; R:15:1785; R:16:1942-45.

J.T. Brown, Ray Allen, and Kirchoff said that Skipper agreed to give Bill Bill, Ray Allen, and Kirchoff a ride to a nearby gas station to purchase fuel for the Browns' generator. R:14:1638; R16:1944-45,1976; R17:2079-80,2095. Kirchoff said Skipper seemed nervous and out of place, R:14:1635-36, and had to be asked multiple times to take them on the errand. R:14:1668-69. J.T. Brown, on the other hand, said Skipper did not hesitate to go when asked. R:16:1973-74. Ray Allen stated that they visited the gas station at least half an hour before its normal closing time of 11 p.m., R:17:2080-82, though again, Skipper's phone records do not support Ray Allen's claim about this timing, R:11:1195.

At this point the prosecution and defense stories sharply diverge. J.T. Brown, Ray Allen, and Kirchoff stated that they went on their trip with Skipper (presumably with the plan of robbing him), but returned with Skipper to the Brown residence from the gas station a few minutes later without incident. R:14:1638-40,1670-72; R:16:1947,1981; R:17:2080-83,2095. These three witnesses insisted that Ray Allen Brown then went to sleep and remained at the house for the rest of the evening. R:14:1642-44; R16:1949,1983; R:17:2098. Ray Allen and J.T. Brown testified that Skipper then left the house with Bill Bill and Bearden, which

was the only evidence putting Bearden in the car when Bill Bill left the Browns' residence with Skipper. R:14:1672-73; R:16:1982-83; R:17:2096. Kirchoff testified that after he put gas in the generator, he went back into the house and Skipper, Bill Bill, and Bearden were gone. R:14:1673. Kirchoff and J.T. testified they were not present when Skipper was killed. R:14:1672; R:16:1993. Neither Ray Allen, nor J.T., nor Kirchoff, nor any other witness testified to Bearden's involvement in the stabbing. R:14:1625-96; R:16:1931-96; R:17:2065-2155.

Bearden, on the other hand, stated to the police and argued at trial that Ray Allen and Bill Bill left the house with Skipper, and that only Bill Bill and Ray Allen returned, driving Skipper's car and covered in blood. R:15:1787-92. There was blood all over their hands, arms and shoes; on a knife Bill had; and there was blood all over the inside the car. R:15:1788-92. Bearden stated that Bill Bill had said he "stuck him" and "I hope he don't live." R:15:1792. Bearden stated that Bill Bill and Ray Allen came in the house and began to wash blood off in J.T. Brown's sink. R:15:1790. Bearden said that J.T. saw the blood and told them to get the car out of there. R:15:1793.

Bearden further said in his statement that he told the others he knew a friend who would buy the car. R:15:1794. Bearden then accompanied Bill Bill, who drove the car, to the house of Adrian "Looney" Hernandez at 2131 Cypress Gardens Boulevard in Winter Haven. R:15:1737, 1794. After Looney came out

and saw Bearden and Bill Bill cleaning the car, he told them to leave. R:15:1741,1795-96. Bearden directed Bill Bill between 2-3 a.m. to drive to the Agüero siblings' house at 16 South 28th Street in Haines City. R:12:1205. The Agüeros bought and sold drugs. R:12:1246; R:13:1473,1476. Bearden thought the Agüeros might give them money or drugs for the car. R:12:1240, 1243.

Maria Agüero testified that she and her brother Robert Agüero had taken Bearden in off the street a few weeks before, because, in Robert's words, Bearden was a "good kid" who was being led astray. R:12:1209; R:13:1433. When Maria and Robert went into their yard, they saw a new car with all four doors open, and Bearden and another man on their knees scrubbing out the floorboards and the driver's seat. R:12:1213-14; R:13:1439. Robert testified that he was not happy to see Bearden there with a car he wanted to sell. R:13:1442-43. Robert assumed the car was stolen, and Bearden's claiming otherwise made him angry. R:13:1443. Maria testified that she asked Bearden if the car was stolen, and Bearden laughed. R:12:1218-19, 1223-1225; R:13:1477.

Maria testified that Bearden and his companion left in the car, and then a half-hour later Bearden returned in the car with another friend, "Chico." R:12:1224-25. Bearden said he was unable to find the title to the car. R:12:1225. Robert Agüero was angry and yelling at Bearden for returning to the house with a stolen car. R:13:1460. They left again, and Bearden later reappeared by himself.

R:12:1224-26. Robert Aguero testified that he was angry with Bearden and wanted to beat him up “because of what he did.” R:12:1226. Robert testified that Bearden was crying and said that “they did something to somebody, and he don’t know how bad it was,” R:13:1465-66 and “they beat him up.” R:13:1471.

Maria Aguero testified that Bearden told them that “[t]hey had f\*\*ked him up.” R:12:1230. On cross examination, Maria Aguero conceded that neither she nor her brothers knew there had been a murder until police told them a day or two later. R:12:1242,1244-45,1247,1251. As Judge Altenbernd would later state in his concurrence in the Second District opinion, “[t]his hearsay testimony is hardly a full confession to any form of murder.” The judge went on to note that “[t]he truth is that we have only a little more corroborative evidence to support the alleged confession of Bearden to the Agueros than the alleged confession of Ray Allen Brown to Ms. Tyler.” 62 So. 3d at 666.<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> The trial transcript shows that this alleged confession was even weaker than as described in Judge Altenbernd’s concurrence, which quoted Bearden telling the Agueros that “*he* had ‘f\*\*cked up’ the victim.” 62 So. 3d at 666 (emphases supplied). Nowhere in the Agueros’ testimony or anywhere else in the record have undersigned counsel found any admission by Bearden that “*he* had ‘f\*\*cked up’ the victim.” Instead, the Agueros used only the pronouns “they” or “we” when quoting Bearden. R:12:1230, R:12:1251, R:12:1252, R:13:1471. These statements shed even less light on Bearden’s alleged level of personal involvement, if any, in the stabbing of Skipper, as opposed to complicity in the broader chain of events. Ray Allen’s confession, set forth below, more clearly and directly placed him in the car at the time of the stabbing than Bearden’s statements to the Agueros.

After initial investigation of the murder, the sheriff's office obtained an arrest warrant for Ray Allen in connection with the murder, but then dropped it. R:17:2141. The State proceeded with charges against Bill Bill and Bearden.

Bearden's trial began on February 16, 2009. The prosecutor told the jury in his opening statement that Ray Allen would testify and that he "will tell you that he had absolutely nothing to do with the murder of Ryan Skipper." R:10:1008-09. The State, however, presented little evidence against Bearden at trial other than the conflicting testimony of J.T. Brown and Kirchoff, the hearsay testimony of the Agueros, and Bearden's statement to police that Ray Allen was the one present at the murder, which was exculpatory. As Judge Altenbernd would later conclude, the "evidence supporting [Bearden's] conviction is weak." 62 So. 3d at 665 (Altenbernd, J., concurring). Judge Altenbernd stated that, among other things, that "[t]here is no physical evidence that places Mr. Bearden or anyone other than William Brown in the car at the time of the murder." *Id.* at 665-66.<sup>6</sup> In fact, as the Second District's majority opinion likewise concluded, "[t]he State offered *no*

---

<sup>6</sup> The only physical evidence offered against Bearden was that his fingerprints were found on the outside of the right-front passenger door of the car. R:16:2027. However, this only establishes what was already undisputed, which was that Skipper gave Bearden a ride to the Browns' house. Bearden also did not contest that he later assisted with cleaning the car, which was the subject of a separate information and disposition for accessory after the fact, tampering with evidence, and dealing in stolen property that is not part of this appeal. R:15:1794-96.

*evidence* concerning how Bearden had allegedly assisted William in killing Skipper.” 62 So. 3d at 662 (emphasis supplied).

The defense’s case at trial was that Ray Allen and not Bearden was in the car when the murder took place, and that Ray Allen and Bill Bill returned with blood on their hands. R:17:2141. On the second day of Bearden’s trial, the prosecutor’s office got a call from Angela Tyler, who stated that Ray Allen had told her he was the one with Bill Bill at the time of the murder, R:11:1169, which was consistent with Bearden’s statement to police and with his defense at trial. The prosecutor informed the court and the defense. Tyler was deposed the following Monday morning. Afterward, the prosecutor said the State no longer planned on calling Ray Allen. R:16:2010-11. The judge noted that doing so would make it harder for Bearden to call Angela Tyler. R:16:2012.

During the defense case, Bearden called Ray Allen to the stand. R:17:2065. Ray Allen’s testimony, R:17:2065-2153, followed the outlines of the State’s theory and was, as noted by the Second District opinion, “not helpful to the defense.” 62 So. 3d at 659. In keeping with the court’s ruling that Bearden could not ask Ray Allen about his confession because it was hearsay, R:17:2061-64, the defense was not permitted to ask Ray Allen whether he was the one in the car with Bill Bill at the time of the murder rather than Bearden, and was not permitted to ask Ray Allen

about any statements he made to Angela Tyler implicating himself in the murder. Ray Allen was then excused, but subject to recall by the defense.

The defense then proffered the testimony of Angela Tyler, outside the presence of the jury. R:18:2275-83. Tyler testified that she knew Bearden and the Brown family, and had been dating Ray Allen's brother on and off for about three years. R:18:2276-77. She recalled that on or about March 17, 2007, a few days after the murder, she encountered an obviously upset Ray Allen in the yard of her parents' house while she was moving out, and she asked him what was wrong:

He said that he had got—that he was with his cousin, Bill Bill. Bill Bill had gotten into a confrontation with a gay guy, and they had an argument, and he had stabbed the guy. *And he was with his cousin when he did it.*

...

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