TGEGKXGF."34; 4235"2; <75-59.'Lqj p"C0Vqo culpq.'Engtm"Uwr tgo g'Eqrvtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOSEPH ELI BEARDEN,
Petitioner,
v.
STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

Case No. SC12-1314

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PAMELA JO BONDI
ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS
Chief-Assistant Attorney General
Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal Appeals
Florida Bar No. 238538
Bob.Krauss@myfloridalegal.com

SUSAN D. DUNLEVY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 229032
Concourse Center 4
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
(813)287-7900
Fax (813)281-5500
CrimAppTpa@myfloridalegal.com

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

Chambers, 410 U.S. at 298⁹⁹, 93 S. Ct. 1038[, 1047-1048] (footnote omitted) (citation omitted).

62 So. 3d at 661-662 (*italics in original*).

The Second District's holding was:

In *Chambers*, the reliability of the alleged third party's out-of-court statements was bolstered by several factors. First, the statements were made to more than one witness. Second, the third party was seen with a gun shortly after the shooting. Third, there was evidence that the third party had previously owned a gun and then bought another one shortly after the crime occurred. 410 U.S. at 300, 93 S. Ct. 1038. In this case, there is nothing other than [Petitioner]'s self-serving statements to the detectives before his arrest. In his pretrial statement, [Petitioner] admitted committing several felonies, but he carefully avoided admitting any direct involvement in Skipper's murder. And the crimes to which [Petitioner] admitted were crimes that he was unable to deny because of the number of witnesses who knew that he had participated in cleaning Skipper's car and attempting to dispose of it. Under the circumstances, we cannot say that the trial court abused its discretion in concluding that Tyler's testimony about Ray Allen's purported statements failed to meet the test of reliability outlined in *Chambers*. It follows that the trial court did not err in excluding her testimony at [Petitioner]'s trial.

62 So. 3d at 664 (footnote omitted).

The Second District's discussion of the credibility of the proffered witness was included to indicate that, even if her credibility were to be considered to offset the lack of corroboration of her testimony, it fell short and contributed nothing positive to establishing the **reliability** of her testimony.

DeWolfe applied the same corroboration test as did the opinion below and reached the opposite result based on its facts, which, unlike the situation sub judice, included at least three other items of evidence that were consistent with the hearsay testimony in issue there.

Petitioner does not support his additional argument that "DeWolfe correctly holds that consistency between a witness's statement about a confession and the defendant's statement corroborates and therefore supports admission of the confession," while the Second District's *Bearden* opinion "in contrast, incorrectly holds that the defendant's statement is not corroboration because it is 'self-serving'" (Petitioner's initial brief on the merits at p. 21) with any authority. Indeed, *DeWolfe* does *not* hold "that consistency between a witness's statement about a confession and the defendant's statement" is sufficient to support admission of the hearsay statement concerning a confession by someone other than the defendant. Rather, *DeWolfe* states:

In making the decision whether to admit evidence of a declaration against penal interest, the trial judge should consider "the language used and the setting in which the statement was made," and decide whether the statement is "consistent with **both** the defendant's general version of events **and the other evidence presented at trial.**" *Masaka v. State*, 4 So. 3d 1274, 1282 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009) (citing *Carpenter v. State*, 785 So. 2d 1182, 1203 (Fla. 2001); *Machado v. State*, 787 So. 2d 112, 113 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)).

62 So. 3d at 1145 (emphasis supplied). And the Second District below, although noting that Petitioner's statement to law enforcement was self-serving, did *not* hold that the trial court could not consider Petitioner's statement to law enforcement in deciding whether to admit Angela Tyler's hearsay testimony. Rather, it held only that, because Tyler's testimony was uncorroborated by anything

other than Petitioner's self-serving statement to law enforcement and due to the time and circumstances under which Tyler came forward, Tyler's testimony "failed to meet the test of reliability outlined in *Chambers*." 62 So. 3d at 664.

Thus, the decision below does not conflict with *DeWolfe* or any other decision of this Court or another district court of appeal.

Because the decision below does not expressly and directly conflict with a decision of this Court or another district court of appeal, there is no basis for this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in Petitioner's case. Accordingly, this Court should dismiss the instant petition for review as improvidently granted.

In the absence of conflict on the issue concerning Tyler's testimony, this Court should also decline to consider Petitioner's issue concerning the trial court's refusal to allow Petitioner to call Ray Allen Brown for the sole purpose of impeaching the testimony he was expected to give regarding Angela Tyler's assertion that he had confessed to her that he was present when the victim was murdered. This Court should also refuse to consider this issue because it was waived, Petitioner having failed to proffer Brown's testimony on this issue in the trial court.

ISSUE II: THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY EXCLUDED TESTIMONY BY ANGELA TYLER THAT RAY ALLEN BROWN HAD TOLD HER THAT HE HAD BEEN PRESENT WHEN BILL-BILL BROWN STABBED THE VICTIM.

The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion. *E.g.*, *Ray v. State*, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); *Zack v. State*, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla.), *cert. denied*, 531 U.S. 858, 121 S. Ct. 143, 148 L. Ed. 2d 94 (2000); *Cole v. State*, 701 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1997), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1051, 118 S. Ct. 1370, 140 L. Ed. 2d 519 (1998).

The Second District's analysis and holding on this issue are correct.

Petitioner's argument to this Court on this issue relies primarily on his claim that the decisions by the trial court and by the Second District that Tyler's testimony should not be admitted were based on findings that her testimony lacked credibility. However, as discussed in Respondent's argument on Issue I, *supra*, this claim is incorrect.

Thus, Petitioner's reliance on *Carpenter v. State*, 785 So. 2d 1182, 1203 (Fla. 2001), is misplaced because in *Carpenter*, as in *DeWolfe* and the cases on which *DeWolfe* relies, the hearsay statement in question "was consistent not only with the general version of events recounted in [the defendant]'s recorded statement, but it was also consistent with other evidence presented at trial." *Id.*

Petitioner's reliance on *Payne v. State*, 74 So. 3d 550 (Fla. 5th DCA 2011), is similarly misplaced. And *Allen v. State*, 38 Fla. L. Weekly S592 (Fla., Jul. 11, 2013), on which Petitioner further relies, is *not* distinguishable from the instant case.

In relying on *Jones v. State*, 709 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1998), opposing counsel appears to be confused. The hearsay testimony concerning another man's confession was *not* admitted at Jones' *trial*. Indeed, this issue was brought up in a claim of newly discovered evidence made in a Rule 3.850 motion. The men who claimed to have heard the other man's confession, fellow prison inmates of this other man, testified at an *evidentiary hearing*—as Angela Tyler was permitted to testify on proffer sub judice—and this Court ultimately affirmed the trial court's denial of a new trial for the defendant, holding, *inter alia*, that “the alleged confessions in this case lack indicia of trustworthiness.” *Id.* at 525. Notably, as here, there was an unexplained delay in these inmates coming forward, on which this Court commented as follows:

All of the statements were allegedly made after Jones had been sentenced to death; in many cases more than a decade elapsed before the inmate came forward to testify as to Schofield's alleged statements. As to the five inmate witnesses who testified at the most recent hearing, none came forward until after Jones' most recent death warrant was signed, waiting anywhere from four to fifteen years to report their information.

Id.

The Second District considered the trial court's finding that

the only direct corroboration of Tyler's account of the purported statements was Petitioner's prearrest statement to detectives and found it to be accurate. Respondent agrees with this assessment. Petitioner points to no other evidence at trial that conflicts with the testimony given by the State's witnesses and is corroborative of Ray Allen Brown's purported statements to Tyler.

As for this Court's reiteration in *Carpenter* that "it [i]s improper to exclude a codefendant's self-inculpatory, out-of-court statement merely because the statement did not 'exonerate' the defendant," 785 So. 2d at 1203, the Second District did not hold otherwise in the instant case.

As for Petitioner's argument that "Ray Allen's subsequent threats to Tyler, R:17:2120, and Ray Allen's attempts to persuade Robert Aguero that he had no involvement in the case, R:13:1481-91, both suggest Ray Allen's motive to conceal his true involvement in the crime," Petitioner's initial brief at p. 37, firstly, this is circular reasoning at best. More important, there was a lengthy discussion concerning Ray Allen Brown's purported threat against Tyler (V 17 T 2119-2152) culminating in Brown's denial of making any such threat (V 17 T 2152-2153). No testimony from anyone claiming to have heard such a threat was presented. Similarly, there is no testimony from Robert Aguero (or anyone else) at V 13 T 1481-1491 concerning any "attempt" by Ray Allen Brown "to persuade Robert Aguero that [Brown] had no involvement in the case."

How the inconsistencies in the evidence presented by the State, such as what time the victim first arrived at the Brown house on the night in question, or whether the behavior of Petitioner and Bill-Bill after the murder of the victim was logical helps Petitioner is unclear. The question is whether Angela Tyler's testimony regarding Ray Allen Brown's purported admissions to her is corroborated by other evidence in the case, not whether there were any inconsistencies in the State's evidence or whether the perpetrators of the murder in question were reasonable people.

Curtis v. State, 876 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004), upon which Petitioner relies, is factually distinguishable from the instant case, both because the third party confession in *Curtis* was corroborated by an eyewitness—someone other than the defendant—who identified the confessor as the victim's killer (*Chambers* prong 2) and because the confessor actually took personal responsibility for having committed the murder and made his confession to the police, not to a friend or family member. That Ray Allen Brown had knowledge of the fact that the victim was homosexual and that Bill-Bill Brown himself had admitted involvement in the murder and the subsequent attempts to dispose of the victim's car is not corroboration of Ray Allen Brown's claim to have been present during the killing of the victim. And, having found that Tyler's testimony was not trustworthy, the trial court correctly relied on the Second District's opinion in *Czubak v. State*, 644 So. 2d 93 (Fla. 2d DCA

1994).

In sum, the trial court correctly excluded testimony by Angela Tyler that Ray Allen Brown had told her that he had been present when Bill-Bill Brown stabbed the victim because Tyler's testimony was not shown to be reliable.

ISSUE III: THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED TESTIMONY BY RAY ALLEN BROWN CONCERNING ANGELA TYLER'S TESTIMONY ABOUT HIS "CONFESSION" TO HER REGARDING THE VICTIM'S MURDER.

First, while this Court has the authority to entertain issues ancillary to those over which this Court has jurisdiction based on conflict between the opinion in question and a decision of this Court or another District Court, this Court generally will refrain from using that authority unless such an ancillary issue affects the outcome of the petition after review of the issue found to have given rise to its conflict jurisdiction. *E.g., Lee v. State*, 501 So. 2d 591, 592 n. 1 (Fla. 1987). Under the circumstances, consideration of this issue by this Court would not affect the outcome of the instant petition for review, and this Court should therefore decline to consider this issue.

Although the Second District addressed the merits of this issue, this issue was waived because Petitioner never sought in the trial court to proffer Ray Allen Brown's testimony regarding the statement Tyler claimed he had made to her. "A proffer is necessary to preserve a claim such as this because an appellate court

will not otherwise speculate about the admissibility of such evidence.” *Lucas v. State*, 568 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1990).

Finally, even if this Court should decide to consider this issue, the Second District was correct in its holding on this issue. Petitioner’s argument on this issue is predicated on his argument concerning Angela Tyler’s proffered testimony. Because that argument is without merit, so, too, is his argument on the merits of this issue.

ISSUE IV: PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION TO CONSIDER THIS ISSUE WHEN IT WAS RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL IN PETITIONER’S “MOTION FOR REHEARING EN BANC” AND, EVEN IF THIS COURT DOES HAVE JURISDICTION, PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH CONFLICT BETWEEN THE OPINION BELOW AND THIS COURT’S OPINIONS IN *STATE V. MONTGOMERY*, 39 SO. 3D 252 (FLA. 2010), AND *DANIELS V. STATE*, 121 SO. 3D 409 (FLA. 2013).

In his final issue raised in this Court, Petitioner argues that the jury instruction on manslaughter given in this case was erroneous. However, this contention was neither made in the trial court nor briefed in the Second District—appellate counsel attempted to raise it for the first time in his “MOTION FOR REHEARING EN BANC.”

New issues or arguments may not be raised for the first time in a motion for rehearing, *Sarmiento v. State*, 371 So. 2d 1047, 1053 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), *approved on other grounds*, 397 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1981); *Price Wise Buying Group v. Nuzum*, 343 So. 2d 115 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), and the Second District did not address this issue

either in its opinion or in its order denying rehearing en banc.

Because there is no indication that the Second District ever considered this issue in the instant case, this issue is, in practical effect, being presented for the first time to this Court. Under these circumstances, this Court should decline to address this issue. *Trushin v. State*, 425 So. 2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1982).

However, even if this Court should decide not to decline to consider this issue based on lack of preservation in either court below, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate conflict with *State v. Montgomery*, 39 So. 3d 252 (Fla. 2010), or *Daniels v. State*, 121 So. 3d 409 (Fla. 2013).

This Court held in *Daniels* that “a defective instruction in a criminal case can only constitute fundamental error if the error pertains to a material element that is disputed at trial.” *Id.* at 418.

In *Griffin v. State*, 38 Fla. L. Weekly D1972 (Fla. 2d DCA Sept. 18, 2013), the Second District followed this holding in *Daniels*. In *Daniels*, the defendant admitted firing the gunshot that killed the victim, and the defendant’s intent in firing that shot was in issue. In *Griffin*, however, the defendant denied being the shooter of the victim, claiming that someone else had fired the fatal shot, and the Second District held:

There is no dispute regarding the elements of an offense when the manner of the crime is conceded and the sole

defense is mistaken identity. *Battle v. State*, 911 So. 2d 85, 89 (Fla. 2005). Because there was no dispute regarding the element of intent, the erroneous jury instruction on the intent element of the lesser included offense of manslaughter did not constitute fundamental error.

Similarly, in the instant case, Petitioner did not dispute the manner in which the victim was killed, but rather claimed that he had not been present at the time of the killing or otherwise involved in the killing of the victim. Accordingly, *Daniels* is factually distinguishable from the instant case, and Petitioner has not shown any conflict with *Daniels*.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court approve the opinion of the district court below.